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plaintiffs of their rights secured by the United States Constitution. The amount in controversy

fc-;r;/l cf'#exceeds$ 100 million dollars.

fl tie,:; ('1e t! 11

& tJ e I' IJ yc ~I?' O;?JaRlSDICTION AND AUTHORITY

2. This Court hasjurisdiction and authority to hear, review, and to act upon this complaint of
constitutional, statutory and civil rights violation pursuant to:
1.) Civil RightsAct 1866 "All-purpose civil rights act"
2.) 42 U.S.C.CHAPTER21 SEC.1981 "Equal Rights under the law."
3.) 42 U.S.C.A.1983 "Civil rights redress for state and territory citizens."
4.) 28 U.S.c. PARTIV, CHAPTER85, :J.331"Federal jurisdiction."
5.} 28 U.S.C.A.1334 "Redress rights violation-damages." .

. I

6.} 28 U.S.C.A.1631 "All-purpose writ."
7.) 28 U.S..c.A.ARTICLEI RULE103 (d) "Plain error."
8:) 28 U.S.C.A.ARTICLEIII, RULE301 "Presumption."

ANCILLARYJURISDICTION AND PENDENT

3. This Court hasjurisdiction and authority to provide remedy and award damagespursuant to:
1.) 28 U.S.C.A.2201 "Declaratory Judgment."
2.) 28 U.S.C.A.2202 "Further Relief."
3.} 28 U.S.C.A.1361 "Compel a officer to do dutv."
4.) 28 U.S.C.A.2412"Cost-fees-other expenses."
5.} 28 U.S.C.A.1918 "Other cost."
6.) 28 U.S.C.A,1364 "Tort claim liability-damages."
7.) 28 U.S.C.A.2671 "Tort claim, other damages."
8.) 28 U.S.C.A.2674 "Exemplary damages-U.S.Liability."
9.) 42 U.S.C.A.1988 "Attorneyfees-cost-etc."
10.) 42 U.S.C.A.1986 "Damagesfor conspiracy."
11.) Rule9 (g) of Federal Rulesof Civil Procedure. " Specialdamages."
12.} Rule54 F.R.C.P."Separate damage's awards for each separate cause."
13.} Rule57 F.R.C.P."Declaratory damages."
14.) 28 U.S.C.A.1344 "Election disputes."
15.) 28 U.S.C.A.1345 "Officer of Justice."
16.)28 U.S.C.PARTIV, CHAPTER85, 1343 "Right to recover damages for failure to prevent."
17.}28 U.S.C.RARTV,CHAPTER123, SEC.1912 "Appeal damagesand Cost."
18.)28 U.S.C.PARTV, CHAPTER123, SEC.1927 "Counsel's liability for excessivecost.'
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19.)18 U.S.c.CHAPTER13, SEC.241 "Conspiracy to deprive rights."
20.}18 U.S.c.CHAPTER13, SEC.242 "Deprivation under color of state law."
21.)18 U.S.c. PARTI, CHAPTER55, SEC.1201 (g) (1) (8) (VII) : "Kidnapping."".
22.)18 U.S.c. PARTI, CHAPTER113C,SEC.2340A (a); Torture." ~
23.}18 U.S.c. PARTI, CHAPTER77, SEC.1591(a)(2);" Trafficking in Persons." -
24.}18 U.S.C.CHAPTERI, SECTION3; "Accessoryafter the fact."
25.)18 U.S.C.CHAPTER79, SECTION1621(1); "Perjury, intentionally lie to the Honorable Court." _
26.)18 U.S.c. CHAPTER19SECTION371; "Conspiracy to defraud the United States.".......;;;;J..
27.)18 U.S.c.CHAPTER47 SECTION1031; "Major fraud against the United States." _
28.}Rule 28.4 SUPREMECOURTRULE:One attorney allowed giving arguments for defense."

LAWS IN MOTION AND ARGUMENT

4. THISCOURT,ISEMPOWEREDpursuant to:

I:} Amendment l,to the United States Constitution; "Congressshall make no law respecting
an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; religion, or abridging
the freedom of speech, or of the press."

2.) Amendment 7, to the United States Constitution: Rightsto jury trial with a Demand for trial.

3.} Amendment 9, to the United States Constitution: "Enumeration in the Constitution of certain
rights shall not be construed to deny or disparage others retained by the people, Fundamental
Rights."

4.} Amendment 5 to the United States Constitution: "No person shall be deprived of property,
Without due process of law; Federal Due process."

5.) Amendment 10 to the United StatesConstitution: Power of the People and rights come
from God and cannot be taken away by human laws."

6.) ARTICLE4, SECTION2 CLAUSE1 to the United StatesConstitution: Entitled to all privileges
and immunities of citizens in the several states."

7.) Amendment 14 to the United States Constitution: "No State shall make or enforce any law
which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States andequal
protection of the laws."

8.) ARTICLEI, SECTION9, CLAUSE8, to the United States Constitution: No title of nobility
shall be granted by the United States."

9.) Amendment 6, to the United StatesConstitution: "Rights to appropriate counsel in
termination of parental rights."

3



STATEMENT

By mutual agreement, I release James C. Alexander as my
attorney in this case. I have received the contents of my file
including all documents left with him by Melvin Swanson,
including a disc that purportedly has pictures. I understand that
Mr. Alexander will take no further .steps on my behalf and I have
signed a consent order to be submitted to the Judge for signature
as to his release. I understand that my case has been filed and
served on the defendant Melvin Swanson and I can proceed with
that case. I understand that I will have to obtain the services
of another attorney to assist me. The reason for this release is
that both of us are concerned about the mental stability of Mr.
Swanson who is my son and we are concerned about violent action
that he may take. I have been advised to consult Probate Court
about a commitment process for Mr. Swanson as he has threatened
to kill me. I understand that he has corneinto Mr. Alexander's
office and created a disturbance and I do agree for Mr. Alexander
to be released.

Thalia Cooper

September 25, 2014



ALEXANDER LAW FIRM
107 E. Main Street
Post Office Box 618
Pickens, SC 29671

James C. Alexander
Steven L. Alexander

(864) 898-3208 T
(864) 898-3408 F

May 21, 2014

Mr. Melvin E. Swanson
167 Forestry Road
Pickens, SC 29671

RE: Thalia Cooper

Dear Mr. Swanson:

I have been retained to represent Thalia Cooper F/N/A Thalia
D. Grant, regarding the debt that you owe to her in the amount of
$3,500.00. You signed a promissary note and a mortgage, a copy
of which are enclosed, and you have not made any payments on this
debt. Ms. Cooper is calling this debt due at this time and
demands that you pay to her the total sum of $3,500.00, plus any
accumulated interest at the legal rate from the maturity date of

this note.If you do not pay this debt, Ms. Cooper's only option is to
bring a lawsuit on the promissary note and foreclose on your
interest of the real property, as set forth in the mortgage. I
hope that this action will not be necessary. You can either pay
her the amount due, sign your interest in the property over to
her which will avoid a lawsuit, or be named as a defendant in a
lawsuit for foreclosure. Ms. Cooper prefers that you to pay her

the amount due.
However, you must either pay her in full or sign the

property over to her within 10 days of the date of this letter.
If one of these actions is not taken, she has authorized me to
initiate a foreclosure action. I request that you call me and let
me know how you intend to proceed.

Sincerely yours,

"---..l...?'<-~ ......N...,DC2.~
Alexander

losures
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I . MORTGAGE OF REAL ESTATE-JOHN D. VICKERY JR., ATTORNEY AT LAW, PICKENS, S.~. 1M 1·69

The State of South Carolina,

COUNTYOF PICKENS

To All Whom These Presents May Concern: Melvin E. Swanson

hereinafter for convenience styled Mortgagor (s) SEND GREETING:

Whereas, I , the said mortgagor (s) Melvin E. Swanson

in and by a certain p',,:"i"",Y no" in writing, of even date with these P""!'!: i,., (. re~ (.). a:'3
well and truly indebted to Thal1a D. Grant or Ralph M. Grant ~ ~ ~
hereinafter called the mortgagee (s), in the full and just sum of Three Thousand Five Hundred

and no/100-------------------
DOLLARS ($:3500.00 ),to be paiq

in monthly installments of $50.00 each - due and payable beginning
January 1, 1998 and continuing regularly thereafter until paid in full.

011190

PIC~\ENSco.
H~1C/()!;.p

91 AUG29 AH10: I 5

(No interest charged)
N/A

at the rate of N/A

until paid in full, all interest not paid when due to bear
interest at the same rate as principal; and if any portion of principal or interest be at any time past due and un­
paid then the whole amount evidenced by the said note to become immediately due, at the option of the holder
here~f, who may sue thereon and foreclose this mortgage; and in case said note after its maturity, should be placed
in the hands of an attorney for suit or collection, or if, before its maturity it should be deemed by the holder thereof
necessary for the protection of his interests to place and the holder should place the said note or this mortgage in the
hands of an attorney for any legal proceedings, then and in either of said cases the mortgagor(s) promise to pay all
costs and expenses including 10 per cent of the indebtedness as attorney's fees, this to be added to the mortgage indebt­
edness, and to be secured under this mortgage as a part of said debt.

NOW, KNOW ALL MEN, That I •the said mortgagor(s), in consideration of the said debt and sum of

money aforesaid, and for the better securing the payment thereof to the said mortgagee(s) according to the term of

the said note, and also in consideration of the further sum of Three Dollars, to .. the said mortgagor(s), in

hand well and truly paid by the said mortgagee(s) at and before the signing of these Presents, the receipt whereof
is hereby acknowledged, have granted, bargained, sold and released and by these Presents do grant, bargain, sell and
release unto the said Mortgagee (s) their heirs and assigns forever:

ALL THAT CERTAIN PIECE, PARCEL OR LOT OF LAND LYING AND BEING SITUATE
IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, COUNTY OF PICKENS, and being approx.
11.0 miles North of Pickens,. and being more fully described according
to'apTa_-t"of"tti'e-'""'s'ame'-'prep'aredby T. Cra ig Kei th, Surveyor, on January
25,,.. 19.66_.__,_and.reference thereto is hereby made for courses, distance,
metes and bounds. -•
AND BEING BOUNDED AS FOLLOWS: on the North and West by dirt road; on the
South by Poinsett Road: on the _East ~_y ~ravel road et at .

This being the same property conveyed to Melvin E. Swanson from Pat
Rowland by deed dated August 28, 1997 and recorded in the Pickens
County RMC Office in Deed BOOk''t.?)~q , Page J 111



Document prepared by John D. Vickery, Jr., Attorney at Law
107 Court street, Pickens, s.C. 29671

==================================================================

$3,500.00 8-28-97
amount date

• For value received _jI~/~W~eL_~M~e~l~v~i~n~E~.~s~w~a~n~s~o~n~__~ ___

promise to pay to Thalia D. Gr~nt br Ralph M. Grant 115 Crescent Hill
Rd., ,Pickens, SC 29671

on order, the s~m of Three Thousand Five Hundred and nollOO DOLLARS
..~.".... ~-::.,;:.;,..'.:::''';'''::''':--,.

payable in monthly installments 6r~$50.00each due and payable

_begi nn jng 1-1 -98 aod cOJ)ti OJ] j 09- regularly tberea fter uot j 1 pa j d j 0 full.

with interest thereon from (no interest chargedat the rate of

N/A per cent, per annum, to be computed and paid

N/A until paid in full; all interest not paid
when due bear interest at same rate as principal.

AND Well hereby agree that if at any time any portion of said
principal or interest shall be past due and unpaid, the whole
amount evidenced by this Note shall, at option of holder thereof,
become immediately due, and said holder shall have the right to
institute any proceedings upon tQ~s Note and any collaterals given
to secure the same for the purpose of collectipg said principal
and interest, with cost and expense, or of protecting any security
connected herewith. _~//'"----_,,

AND Well furt.heragree hereby that if any part of the money due
_l:lereonbenot paid when due"or if this Note be placed in the
na:nds-Ofatr-at;:'torrie}ifor d'01IEretYorr~=at~Tf i:l'iIsCdebt -or-any" part
thereof, be collected by an attorney or legal proceedings of any
kind, an attorney's fee of a !r.eilsonablesum not less than 10 per
cent of the indebtedness besides all costs and expenses incident
upon such collection shall be added to the amount due upon this
Note, and be collectible as a part thereof.

£.£-?' E~ j)LU~
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TOGETHER with all and singular the Rights, Members, Hereditaments; and Ap-purtemmces to the said Premises
belonging, or in anywise incident or appertaining.

TO HAVE AND TO {IOLD all and singular the said Premises unto the said mortgagee(s) ,
successors and Assigns." And Mortgagor do hereby bind Mortgagor's
Heirs, Successors, Executors and Administrators to warrant and forever defend all and singular the said Premises unte
the said mortgagee(s) I theirheirs, successors and Assigns, from and against the mortgagor'(s),"

their heirs,

Heirs, Successors, Executors, Administrators and Assigns, and every person whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim
the same or any part thereof.


